LESS THAN YOU THOUGHT: THE FISCAL AUTONOMY OF SUB-CENTRAL GOVERNMENTS

Hansjörg Blöchliger and David King

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction 1	156
Decentralisation ratios	156
Taxing power of sub-central governments I	159
A taxonomy of tax autonomy 1	159
Taxing power in 2002	160
Evolution of taxing power 1995-2002	162
Tax autonomy across tax category	164
Tax sharing arrangements	166
Intergovernmental grants I	168
Donors and recipients of grants	168
Taxonomy of grants	170
Grants by government function	174
Fiscal autonomy of sub-central governments I	176
Revenue structure 1	176
Fiscal autonomy indicator set	179
A few (non) correlations among fiscal autonomy indicators	181
Summary and outlook for policy analysis I	184
Bibliography I	188

The authors are Senior Economist in the OECD Economics Department and OECD Centre for Tax Policy, and Professor of Public Economics at Stirling University, Scotland, respectively. We are grateful to Jørgen Elmeskov, Christopher Heady, Isabelle Joumard, Joaquim Oliveira Martins and Hannes Suppanz for helpful comments and suggestions, and we are indebted to Josette Rabesona for statistical assistance. This paper reflects the views of the authors and not necessarily those of the organisation or its member countries.

INTRODUCTION

State and local governments in OECD countries have access to various fiscal resources. Discretion over them varies considerably, and so does sub-central governments' power to shape their budget and to determine outcomes like public sector efficiency, equity in access to public services or the long term fiscal stance. Data on the revenue structure of sub-central governments (SCG) would therefore be helpful. But indicators have long insufficiently reflected the way state and local budgets are funded. The most frequently used indicator is the ratio of SCG to total tax revenue, which is a poor measure for assessing the true autonomy SCGs enjoy. Since the power over fiscal revenue is a critical determinant for government finance, a set of more refined indicators for assessing fiscal autonomy should be established.

This article provides data and interpretation on the fiscal resources of subcentral governments in a majority of OECD countries. The article is organised as follows: The first section gives an overview on revenue and expenditure assignment using the "standard" decentralisation indicator. The second section describes the indicator set for sub-central tax revenue autonomy. The third section develops the indicator set for intergovernmental grants and the different conditions attached to them. The fourth section assesses overall sub-central fiscal autonomy and analyses the relationship between various autonomy indicators. The fifth and final section summarises the findings and shows how the new dataset can help assess the impact of fiscal federal design on policy outcomes.

DECENTRALISATION RATIOS

The common measure to compare and assess fiscal autonomy is the share of resources and responsibilities assigned to local and regional governments. SCG tax and expenditure indicators (or "decentralisation ratios") drawn from National Accounts can help gauge fiscal decentralisation and its evolution over time. While these indicators can hardly capture the complexity of fiscal arrangements, they can give a first impression of how much fiscal power regional and local jurisdictions enjoy. The following figures show the current state of financial decentralisation as measured by sub-central government shares of total tax revenue and expenditure in OECD countries (Figure 1) and the evolution of these indicators over the last decade (Figure 2).





Share in general government revenues and expenditure, 2004



Figure 2. Decentralisation ratios, evolution

Source: National Accounts of OECD countries. 2005.

Source: National Accounts of OECD Countries, 2005.

The stylised facts shown in these figures can be summarised as follows:

- The degree of decentralisation varies greatly across OECD countries. While the sub-central share of total government expenditures varies between less than 6% and more than 60%, the sub central tax share stretches from 3 to 50%. The constitutional background of a country whether it is federal or unitary says little about actual fiscal autonomy. Local governments in some unitary countries have a higher share in public spending than local and regional governments together in federal countries.
- The sub-central tax share and the sub-central expenditure share have diverged over the last ten years. While the share of sub-national expenditures generally increased, the sub-central tax share with a few notable exceptions remained almost stable. The rising expenditure share partly reflects new responsibilities assigned to sub-central governments such as health care and/or non-university education in Italy, Mexico and Spain, or active labour market policies in Canada. On the other hand, local taxing power was reduced in many countries, such as in France or Japan, where local taxes were replaced by intergovernmental transfers.
- In all countries, sub-central government expenditures by far exceed tax revenue and this "fiscal gap" has widened in the last decade. The difference between responsibilities and resources points to large intergovernmental transfer schemes. The fiscal gap tends to be larger in countries with high sub-central fiscal autonomy (Canada, Denmark and not shown in Figure 1 Switzerland); somewhat paradoxically, more decentralisation can go hand in hand with more dependency on central government resources. Size and structure of intergovernmental grants thus become a crucial policy issue for decentralizing countries.

A serious problem with these simple ratios, however, is that they only poorly measure the true discretion that SCG enjoy in practice. On the revenue side, limits to set tax bases, rates and relief reduce the extent to which sub-central governments can determine the size of their budget. On the expenditure side, local spending may be strongly influenced by upper level government regulation, thereby reducing discretion over various expenditure items. In some countries, the transfer of financial responsibility for education or health care was hardly more than a change in accounting procedures, while essential regulatory power remained with the central level. Moreover, the various conditions attached to intergovernmental transfers may further influence the spending pattern of subcentral governments. To have a more accurate picture of sub-central fiscal autonomy, a more detailed indicator set is required.

159

TAXING POWER OF SUB-CENTRAL GOVERNMENTS

A taxonomy of tax autonomy

The term "tax autonomy" captures various aspects of freedom sub-central governments have over their own taxes. It encompasses features such as sub-central government's right to introduce or to abolish a tax, to set tax rates, to define the tax base, or to grant tax relief to individuals and firms. In a number of countries taxes are not assigned to one specific government level but shared between the central and sub-central governments. Such arrangements deny a single SCG any control on tax rates and bases, but collectively SCGs may have the power to negotiate the sharing formula with central government. The wealth of explicit and implicit, statutory and common, institutional arrangements has to be encompassed by a set of indicators that are simultaneously appropriate (they capture the relevant aspects of tax autonomy), accurate (they measure those aspects correctly) and reliable (the indicator set remains stable over time).

The indicator set comprises five main categories of autonomy and several sub-categories (Table 1). Categories are ranked in decreasing order from highest to lowest taxing power. Category "a" represents full power over tax rates and bases, "b" power over tax rates (essentially representing the "piggy-backing" type of tax), "c" power over the tax base, "d" tax-sharing arrangements and "e" no power on rates and bases at all. Category "f" represents non-allocable taxes. Special atten-

	Table 1. Taxonomy of taxing power
a.1	The recipient SCG sets the tax rate and any tax relief without needing to consult a higher level government
a.2	The recipient SCG sets the rate and any relief after consulting a higher level of government
b.1	The recipient SCG sets the tax rate and a higher level government does not set upper or lower limits on the rate chosen
b.2	The recipient SCG sets the tax rate and a higher level government does set upper and/or lower limits on the rate chosen
c .1	The recipient SCG sets tax relief – but it sets tax allowances only
c.2	The recipient SCG sets tax relief – but it sets tax credits only
c.3	The recipient SCG sets tax relief – and it sets both tax allowances and tax credits
d.1	There is a tax-sharing arrangement in which the SCGs determine the revenue split
d.2	There is a tax-sharing arrangement in which the revenue split can be changed only with the consent of SCGs
d.3	There is a tax-sharing arrangement in which the revenue split is determined in legislation, and where it may be changed unilaterally by a higher level government, but less frequently than once a year
d.4	There is a tax-sharing arrangement in which the revenue split is determined annually by a higher level government
e	Other cases in which the central government sets the rate and base of the SCG tax
f	None of the above categories (a, b, c, d or e) applies
Sourc	e: OECD (1999).

© OECD 2006

tion was paid to tax sharing arrangements, where the four "d" subcategories should capture the various rules for determining the sharing formula. Altogether 13 categories were established to encompass the various tax autonomy arrangements in OECD countries. Where applicable, countries were asked to send separate data for both the state/regional and the local level. Since category six "non allocable" was hardly used, the taxonomy seems to reflect well the taxing power universe.

Taxing power in 2002

Although there is wide variation across countries, the stylised facts on taxing power of state and local governments in 2002 can be summarised as follows (Table 2):¹

- First, only a part of sub-central tax revenue is under effective control of subcentral governments. At the average, the tax revenue share with full or partial discretion (categories a, b and c) amounts to around 60% for state and 70% for local government. In many countries (not shown in the table), permitted maximum tax rates often double minimum rate.
- Second, state and regional governments have less discretion over their tax revenue than local governments, since tax revenue of the former is often governed by tax sharing arrangements. On the other hand, with 51% of SCG tax revenue, the state level has a higher share in high-powered autonomous taxes (category "a"), while local governments are often allowed to levy a supplement on selected regional or central taxes only (category "b" or "piggy-backing" tax).
- Third, the "c" category (representing control over the tax base but not the tax rate) plays a negligible role in OECD countries. It appears that countries are gradually banning tax relief and abatements as local and regional economic development incentives, particularly in the European Union.

In some countries, SCG have the right to vary tax rates but actually set the same rate across the country. Such "unused taxing power" invites a deeper look into fiscal institutions and the incentives they generate for tax competition.

Tax sharing agreements account for a large part of sub central tax revenue in most constitutionally federal countries (Austria, Belgium, Germany, Mexico and Italy), in constitutionally non-federal Spain, in the Czech Republic and in Poland. Tax sharing is often considered as providing a balance between granting local/regional fiscal autonomy and keeping the overall fiscal framework stable. The collective power for sub-central governments to negotiate their tax share varies considerably across countries, from arrangements where sub-central governments are in full control over their share, to arrangements where the share is unilaterally set and modified by the central government. In some countries the distribution formula is

	Sub- central tax rates	Discretion on rates (b)		Discre- tion on relief (c)	Tax s	sharing arr	angement	ts (d)	Rates and			
	revenue as % of total tax revenues	rates and relief (a)	Full	Restric- ted		Revenue split set by SCG	Revenue split set with SCG consent	Revenue split set by CG, pluri- annual	Revenue split set by CG, annual	relief set by CG (e)	Other (f)	" Total
Australia	31.4											
States	28.4	54.4	_	-	-	-	45.6	-	-	-	-	100.0
Local	3.0	100.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	100.0
Austria	18.4											
States	8.8	7.0	-		-	-	82.7	-	-	9.6	0.8	100.0
Local	9.6	2.7	-	5.4	-	-	66.5	-	-	20.0	5.5	100.0
Belgium	27.8	(2.0					26.2					100.0
States	22.8	05.8	-	- 86.4	-	-	30.2	-	-	26	-	100.0
Canada	44 1	10.0	_	00.4	-	_	-	-	-	5.0	-	100.0
Provinces	35.5	98.4	_	_	_	_	1.6	_	_	_	_	100.0
Local	8.6	1.8	95.6	_	_	_	-	_	_	2.3	0.3	100.0
Czech Republic	12.5											
Local	12.5	5.5	-	4.1	-	-	-	88.8	-	1.5	0.1	100.0
Denmark	35.6											
Local	35.6	-	86.0	4.7	-	-	-	2.9	-	6.4	-	100.0
Finland	21.5											
Local	21.5	-	85.3	4.6	-	-	-	-	9.9	-	0.1	100.0
France	10.0											
Local	10.0	72.1	-	8.5	9.1	-	-	-	-	3.6	6.6	100.0
Germany	28.7						0(0					100.0
Lanaer	21.8	176	-	2.4	-	-	80.3	-	-	11.2	-	100.0
Crooco	7.0	17.0	-	55.0	-	_	47.0	-	-	1.1	0.2	100.0
Local	0.9	_	_	64.6	_	35.4	_	_	_	_	_	100.0
Iceland	25.2			04.0		JJ.4						100.0
Local	25.2	_	_	91.2	_	_	_	_	_	_	8.8	100.0
Italy	16.4			,=							0.0	
Regional	11.3	_	_	58.8	-	-	23.7	17.6	-	-	-	100.0
Local	5.2	27.1	-	50.4	-	-	-	13.1	-	9.3	-	100.0
Japan	26.0											
Local	26.0	0.1	79.7	-	-	-	-	-	-	20.2	-	100.0
Korea	18.9											
Local	18.9	-	-	64.3	-	-	-	-	-	35.7	-	100.0
Mexico	3.4	100.0										100.0
States	2.4	100.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	100.0
Netherlands	3.6	100.0	_	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	100.0
Local	3.6	_	99.2	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	0.8	100.0
Norway	12.9		//.2								0.0	100.0
Local	12.9	3.3	_	96.7	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	100.0
Poland	17.5											
Local	17.5	-	-	23.2	-	-	-	76.4	-	0.4	-	100.0
Portugal	6.0											
Local	6.0	-	-	44.0	-	-	-	18.5	-	37.3	0.2	100.0
Spain	26.6											
Regions	18.1	58.3	-	0.1	-	-	41.6	-	-	-	0.0	100.0
Local	8.5	27.2	-	51.4	-	-	21.4	-	-	-	0.0	100.0
Sweden	32.1		100.0									100.0
Local	32.1	-	100.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	100.0

Table 2. Taxing power of sub-central governments, 2002 As share of sub-central tax revenue

© OECD 2006

As shale of sub-central tax revenue												
	Sub- central tax revenue as % of total tax revenues	Discre- tion on	Discretion on rates (b)		Discre- tion on relief (c)	Tax sharing arrangements (d)			s (d)	Rates and	; Other	
		rates and relief (a)	Full	Restric- ted		Revenue split set by SCG	Revenue split set with SCG consent	Revenue split set by CG, pluri- annual	Revenue split set by CG, annual	relief set by CG (e)	(f)	Total
Switzerland	43.1											
States	27.0	90.4	-	-	-	-	9.6	-	-	- 1	-	100.0
Local	16.2	2.9	-	97.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	100.0
Turkey	6.5											
Local	6.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	100.0	100.0
United Kingdom	4.5											
Local	4.5	-	-	100.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	100.0
Unweighted Average	?											
States	19.6	52.5	-	6.8	-	-	36.4	2.0	-	2.3	0.1	100.0
Local	12.4	15.4	22.7	34.6	0.4	1.5	5.6	8.3	0.4	5.9	5.1	100.0
Source: National	source and	d OECD	Revenu	e Statisti	ics 1965-	2004, 20	05 Editio	n.				

Table 2.	Taxing power of sub-central governments, 2002 (cont.)
	As share of sub-central tax revenue

enshrined in the constitution and can only be changed with the consent of all or a majority of sub-central governments. Tax sharing is discussed in the section on "tax sharing arrangements" in more detail.

Evolution of taxing power 1995-2002

Taxing power increased from 1995 to 2002, albeit unevenly across countries (Table 3). The share of taxes over which sub-central governments have full or partial control rose by 25 percentage points for states and 8 percentage points for local governments, mostly to the detriment of tax sharing arrangements. Such agreements lost significance in countries such as Austria, Belgium, Germany, Mexico or Spain. In Norway, local governments gained more autonomy over income taxes, while in Austria and Germany, they lost revenue from autonomous local business taxes. In some countries (*e.g.* France and Sweden) the central government is required to compensate the loss of sub-central tax revenue through additional transfers; this effect is not shown in Table 3.

The forces shaping the evolution of SCG tax revenue and tax autonomy are political, fiscal and economic in nature.

• First and probably most important are policy reforms such as a reassignment of taxes to another government level, a change in tax autonomy or a swap between local/regional taxes and intergovernmental grants. Constitutional and legislative amendments largely account for the rapid change in countries such as Belgium or Spain involved in a secular decentralisation process.

			As a share of sub-central tax revenues								
	Sub- central	Discre-	Discre rate	etion on es (b)	Discro	Tax-s	haring arr	angemen	ts (d)	Rates	
	tax revenue s as % of total tax revenues	rates and relief (a)	Full	restric- ted	tion on relief (c)	Revenue split set by SCG	Revenue split set with SCG consent	Revenue split set by CG, pluri- annual	Revenue split set by CG, annual	relief set by CG (e)	Other (f)
Austria	-0.1										
Länder	-1.2	5.0	_		_	_	-15.3	_	-	9.6	0.8
Local	1.1	-5.8	-5.9		-	-	-14.0	_	-	20.0	5.5
Belgium	-0.2										
States	0.3	59.8	-47.5		-	-	-12.3	-	-	-	-
Local	-0.5	-2.5	2.4		-	-	-	-2.5	-1.0	3.6	-
Czech Republic	-0.5										
Local	-0.5	3.5	-0.9		-3.0	-	-	-1.2	-	1.5	0.1
Denmark	4.6										
Local	4.6	-	-3.8		-	-	-	0.9	-	2.9	-
Finland	-0.5										
Local	-0.5	-	0.9		-	-	-	-11.0	9.9	-	0.1
Germany	-0.3										
Länder	-0.2		2.4		-	-	-13.7	-	-	11.2	
Local	0.0	16.6	-18.4		-	-	0.6	-	-	1.1	0.2
Iceland	5.2										
Local	5.2	-8.0	-0.8		-	-	-	-	-	-	8.8
Japan	-12.7	07.1	20.1					10.1			
Local	-12.7	27.1	-38.1		-	-	-	13.1	-	-2.2	-
Mexico	-16.6	0(0					0/ 0				
States	-13.0	80.0	-		-	-	-80.0	74.0	-	26.0	-
Notherlands	-5.0	100.0	_		_	-	-	-74.0	-	-20.0	-
Local	1.1		0.6								0.8
Local	1.1	-	-0.8		_	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
Norway	-7.1	2.2	04.2					0.5		07.0	
Poland	10.5	5.5	94.2		-	-	-	-0.9	-	-97.0	-
Local	10.5	_	_21.8		_1.0	_	_	22.4	_	0.4	_
Portugal	0.9	_	-21.0		-1.0	_		22.4	_	0.4	
Local	0.8	_	0.2		_	_	_	-43	_	38	0.2
Spain	13.3		0.2							5.0	0.2
Regions	13.3	44.0	-0.5		-	_	31.7	_	_	-	-75.2
Local	0.0	-1.5	-2.8		_	_	6.1	_	_	_	-1.8
Sweden	0.1										
Local	0.1	-2.0	2.0		_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Switzerland	5.1										
States	5.0	1.4	_		-	-	3.6	-5.0	-	_	_
Local	0.2	2.9	0.1		-	-	-	-3.0	-	-	-
United Kingdom	0.5										
Local	0.5	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Unweighted Average											
States	0.6	32.7	-7.6		_	_	-15.3	-0.8	_	3.5	-12.4
Local	0.0	7.9	0.4		-0.2	_	-0.4	-3.5	0.5	-5.4	0.8
_000	0.0	/	0.1		0.2		0.1	2.7	0.2	2.1	0.0

Table 3. Evolution of taxing power of sub-central governments Change in 1995-2002

Source: National source and OECD, Taxing Powers of State and Local government, Tax Policy Studies No. 1 and Revenue Statistics 1965-2004, 2005 Edition.

- Second, fiscal reasons such as a relative change in tax rates or bases can also affect the pattern of taxing power, *e.g.* if one government level changes its tax rate or base while another government level does not. In many countries rates and base of local property taxes remain unchanged over long periods of time, while the bases of central government income taxes or goods and services taxes are regularly updated.
- Third, different taxes react differently to the business cycle or to structural change and this may affect tax revenue of different government levels. A local profit tax reacts more swiftly to an economic downturn than a central government income tax, and a local sales tax on goods reacts more slowly to the rise of the service sector than a central value added tax.

Altogether, the net effect of the three forces slightly favoured sub-central governments between 1995 and 2002. Although the share of tax revenue going to the sub-central level hardly changed, the power attached to those taxes rose. For most countries no tax erosion could be detected, either in terms of the revenue share or in terms of autonomy. However, the tax share must be set against the expenditure share, which increased considerably in about the same period (Figure 2).

Tax autonomy across tax category

164

The data on tax autonomy by tax type defy the beliefs on optimal local taxation (Table 4). While fiscal federalism theory asserts that mobile taxes should be allocated to higher levels of government, in practice the largest single tax assigned to local and regional governments is the highly mobile income tax on individuals, with more than 36% of total SCG tax revenue. If local corporate taxes are added, the share rises to more than 41%. Taxes on goods and services account for 21% of total SCG tax revenue. Taxes on immovable property account for 19% only. Although most OECD countries apply some sub-central property taxation, its yield is often limited and supplemented or even replaced by other taxes such as a local income tax. In more decentralised countries, local income tax revenue largely exceeds local property tax revenue.

A closer look at tax autonomy may alleviate the fears of inappropriate tax assignment. Some mobile sub-central taxes go with little power only. Especially the personal income tax is often built into tax sharing arrangements that limit tax competition and potential tax erosion. Moreover, fiscal equalization – a set of fiscal transfers that aims at reducing differences in sub-central fiscal capacity – may partially offset losses in the revenue of mobile taxes.² Even when sub-central governments have the right to set tax rates and bases and could hence enter tax competition, they often do not make use of this right for fear of losing other revenue sources. Put together, it appears that countries succeed in containing the drawbacks of mobile sub-central taxes, but it would be useful to have a closer look into the functioning of respective arrangements.

		Discreti	Discretion on rates Tax sharing arrangements								
	Discretion on rates and relief	Full	Restricted	Discre- tion on relief	Revenue split set by SCG	Revenue split set with SCG consent	Revenue split set by CG, pluri- annual	Revenue split set by CG, annual	Rates and relief set by CG	Other	Total
1000 Taxes on income, profits and capital gains	5.9 5.2	9.9 9 3	10.3	2.8		0.8	9.9 8 2	0.3	1.5	0.3	41.7
1200 Corporate 1300 Unallocable between 1100 and 1200	0.7	0.6	2.2	-	-	-	1.4 0.3	0.3	0.4	0.3 0.0	5.9 0.3
2000 Social security contributions 2100 Employees	0.1 0.1		-	-		-		-	0.0	0.1 0.1	0.3 0.2
 2200 Employers 2300 Self-employed or non-employed 2400 Unallocable between 2100, 2200 	-		-	-		_	-	-	-	0.0	0.0
3000 Taxes on payroll and workforce	2.4	_	0.2	-	_	_	_	_	0.7	_	3.3
4000 Taxes on property 4100 Recurrent taxes on immovable	11.5	5.5	9.0	0.3	0.2	-	0.2	-	0.8	-	27.3
4200 Recurrent taxes on net wealth 4300 Estate, inheritance and gift taxes	0.4 0.3		1.1 0.0	-		-	0.0 	-	0.0 0.1	_	1.5 0.4
4400 Taxes on financial and capital transactions4500 Non-recurrent taxes	2.5 0.1	0.0 0.2	1.3 0.2	0.3	0.2	-	0.1		0.2		4.6 0.5
4600 Other recurrent taxes on property 5000 Taxes on goods and services 5100 Taxes on production, sale, transfer, etc.	- 3.4 2.2	- 1.5 0.1	- 1.3 0.2	- 0.0 0.0	- 0.9 0.9	- 4.2 2.8	- 5.2 5.0		- 4.5 3.4	- 0.3 0.3	21.4 14.9
5200 Taxes on use of goods and perform activities 5300 Unallocable between 5100 and 5200	1.2	1.5	1.2		-		0.1		1.1	_ 0.0	5.1 0.0
6000 Other taxes 6100 Paid solely by business 6200 Other	2.1 0.9 1.2	0.1 0.1	1.4 1.4 _	- -	- - -	- - -	0.4 - 0.4	- - -	1.2 0.0 1.1	0.6 0.2	5.9 2.7 2.8
Total	25.5	17.1	22.3	3.0	1.1	5.0	15.6	0.3	8.7	1.4	100.0

Table 4. Taxing power of sub-central governments by type of tax

As a percentage of sub-central tax revenue¹

1. Unweighted average. Countries included are: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Italy, Japan, Korea, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and Turkey.

Source: National sources and OECD, Revenue Statistics 1965-2004, 2005 Edition.

Tax sharing arrangements

Tax sharing is an arrangement where tax revenue is divided vertically between the central and sub-central governments as well as horizontally across sub-central governments. Often tax sharing arrangements contain an element of horizontal fiscal equalization. Tax sharing has become a means to provide adequate resources to the sub-centrallevel while maintaining central control over fiscal aggregates. Tax sharing grants less autonomy to sub-central governments than autonomous taxes, and it may also change SCGs' fiscal behaviour. By turning SCG

Box 1. Drawing a dividing line between tax sharing and intergovernmental grants

Both tax sharing arrangements (category "d" of tax autonomy) and intergovernmental grants provide resources to sub-central governments. Drawing the dividing line between the two fiscal arrangements proves sometimes difficult. On one hand, many tax sharing formulae have become so complex that there is no link between what a SCG collects on its territory, what it sends into the common pool and what it finally gets back. On the other hand, policy reforms have made some intergovernmental grants more look like a share in the national tax yield. While the National Accounts and the Revenue Statistics provide some guidelines, in practice what counts as tax sharing in one country may count as intergovernmental grant in another; within some countries even, different central government bodies have adopted different views on how to classify fiscal resources (*e.g.* Australia or Belgium). Such lack of clarity jeopardises the coherence of SCG revenue statistics and reduces strength and utility of fiscal design analysis. In order to ensure that fiscal arrangements are recorded properly and on a comparative basis, a set of distinctive criteria is required.

For future statistical work a guideline is proposed that enables a dividing line to be drawn between the two fiscal arrangements. The guideline consists of four criteria. The criteria relate to the revenue risk that sub-central governments are exposed to, the freedom of use of the revenue obtained, the rules and formulas that define the distribution of financial revenue and the institutional decision mechanisms defining each SCG's annual share. In order to be considered a tax sharing, an arrangement must cumulatively fulfil all four criteria. A fiscal arrangement between levels of government can hence be called tax sharing if the amount going to each government level is a strict share of total tax revenue, if this share is predefined and cannot be changed in the course of the fiscal year, if the revenue for SCG is not earmarked and if the revenue allocated to a single SCG either corresponds to the revenue it has collected, or is distributed across jurisdictions according to population, employees, or inversely related to tax raising capacity. Once agreed upon, the criteria can be used for collecting National Accounts and Revenue Statistics data.

166

tax revenue into a common pool resource for all government levels, tax sharing may change fiscal incentives and the resulting fiscal outcomes. For both statistical and analytical reasons, it is necessary to distinguish carefully tax sharing from intergovernmental grants (see Box 1).

Tax sharing arrangements can be analyzed on various grounds: the type of tax that is shared, the legal procedures involved in changing the formula, the frequency of an adjustment to the formula and whether the sharing formula contributes to an equalizing objective (Table 5).

Most tax sharing arrangements cover major taxes such as personal income taxes, corporate income taxes or value-added taxes. Their high yield makes them attractive for the sub-central level, and the pooling tackles potential drawbacks of purely local taxation. The procedure for changing the sharing formula is mostly laid down in laws on tax sharing, fiscal equalisation or the like. For the countries under scrutiny, decisions on the tax sharing arrangements seem to be taken at the parliamentary level; in some countries the share is defined in the constitution and adjustments require a qualified majority in parliament. Consultation of SCG is guite frequent, but their explicit consent for adjustments is needed in some federal countries only. The frequency and regularity of formula adjustment varies across countries, from irregular to never, but it appears that tax sharing arrangements are a rather stable item in national fiscal policy. Finally, some countries combine tax sharing and fiscal equalization in one single arrangement.

	Table 5. Tax sharing arrangements										
	Tax type shared	Procedure for formula changes	Frequency of formula changes	Horizontal equalisation objective							
Austria	PIT, CIT, property tax, VAT	Parliament, Law on Fiscal Equalisation	Every four years	Yes							
Czech Republic	PIT, CIT, VAT	Government, Law of Tax Assignment	Irregularly	Yes							
Denmark	PIT, CIT	Government, Law on Tax Sharing	Very rarely	No							
Finland	CIT	Government, Law on Tax Sharing		No							
Germany	PIT, CIT, VAT	Both Parliaments (Bundestag and Bundesrat)	13 changes Since 1970	Yes							
Greece	Transaction and specific service taxes	Central government	Rarely	No							
Spain	VAT, excise duties	Parliament	Rarely	No							
Switzerland	PIT	Parliament, Law on Fiscal Equalisation	Never since 1959	Yes							

- 11 - -

Note: PIT=Personal Income Tax, CIT=Corporate Income Tax, VAT=Value Added Tax. Source: National Sources

INTERGOVERNMENTAL GRANTS

Intergovernmental transfers (or grants) provide sub-central governments with additional financial resources, thus filling the gap between own tax revenue and expenditure needs. The main objectives for intergovernmental grants can be roughly divided into subsidization of SCG services and the equalisation of fiscal disparities; often these reasons overlap. A flowering garden of intergovernmental grants has evolved, with grants having different purposes and different effects on sub-central governments' behaviour. Rules and conditions attached to intergovernmental grants vary widely, ranging from transfers that grant full autonomy and come close to tax sharing, to grants where central government retains tight control. The following paragraphs give an overview on grants from a donors' perspective, a classification of the various strings attached to grants, and the policy areas for which grants are used.

Donors and recipients of grants

Table 6 shows a simplified version of the National Accounts donor/recipient matrix of intergovernmental grants, with five donor levels (central, state, local, international and social security) and – depending on the country type – one or two recipient levels (local, or state and local). The category "international" displays

				9.0			
Country	As a percentage of total tax revenue	Central level	State level	Local level	International level	Social Security	Total
	11.0						
State	9.8	100.0	_	_	-	_	100.0
Local	1.3	61.8	38.2	-	_	_	100.0
Austria	15.2						
State	11.5	69.4	5.1	3.8	0.6	21.1	100.0
Local	3.8	49.2	16.1	12.7	0.3	21.7	100.0
Belgium	11.1						
State	3.9	81.3	13.9	3.6	1.0	0.1	100.0
Local	7.1	26.4	73.3	-	-	0.3	100.0
Canada	17.5						
State	9.0	99.8	_	0.2	-	-	100.0
Local	8.5	0.4	99.6	-	-	-	100.0
Czech Republic	12.4						
Local	12.4	99.1	_	-	0.9	-	100.0
Denmark	13.4						
Local	13.4	99.5	_	-	0.5	-	100.0

Table 6.	Grants by donor and recipient sub-sector, 2004
	As a percentage of total grant revenue

Country	As a percentage of total tax revenue	Central level	State level	Local level	International level	Social Security	Total
Finland	12.1						
Local	12.1	98.5	_	_	1.5	_	100.0
France	8.6						
Local	8.6	97.0	_	_	3.0	_	100.0
Germany	12.8						
Länder	5.9	79.0	_	14.7	6.4	_	100.0
Local	7.0	1.4	98.4	_	_	0.2	100.0
Greece	4.1						
Local	4.1	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
Hungary	16.7						
Local	16.7	67.2	_	3.0	0.5	29.4	100.0
Iceland	1.9						
Local	1.9	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
Italy ²	19.1						
Regional	12.7	94.8	_	_	5.2	_	100.0
Local	6.4	54.3	45 7	_	_	_	100.0
Korea	34.4	2.1.5					10010
Local	34.4	82.6	_	174	_	_	100.0
Mexico	43.4	02.0					10010
State ³	43.4	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
Local		100.0					10010
Netherlands	27.8						
Local	27.8	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
Norway	113	100.0					100.0
Local	11.3	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
Poland	37.9	100.0					100.0
Local	37.9	99.6	_	0.4	_	_	100.0
Portugal	78	//.0		0.4			100.0
Local	7.8	86.5	_	_	12.9	0.6	100.0
Spain	19.4	00.7			12.7	0.0	100.0
Regional	14.0	77 7	_	16.7	_	5.6	100.0
Local	5 5	66.6	31.2	10.7	_	2.0	100.0
Sweden	9.1	00.0	51.2	_	_	2.2	100.0
Local	9.4	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
Switzerland	9.4 72.4	100.0	_	_	_	_	100.0
State	23.4 16.1	73 7	5.6	20.7	_		100.0
Local	7.2	0.2	77.6	20.7			100.0
Turkov	1.2	0.2	11.0	22.5	-	-	100.0
Local	15.0	100.0					100.0
LUCAI	12.0	100.0	_	-	—	_	100.0
Unweighted average							
State	14.0	86.2	2.7	6.6	1.5	3.0	100.0
Local	11.8	72.3	21.8	2.5	0.9	2.5	100.0

Table 6. Grants by donor and recipient sub-sector, 2004 (cont.) As a percentage of total grant revenue

2003 figures.
 2002 figures.

3. Including grants to local government.

Source: National sources and OECD Revenue Statistics 1965-2004, 2005 Edition.

funds directly allocated to SCG in some countries.³ On the average, grants account for around a quarter of total tax revenue,⁴ with Mexico having the largest grant system and Iceland the smallest in relative terms. With 72% central government provides the overwhelming part of grants to local governments in both federal and unitary countries, although in most federal countries (Belgium, Canada, Germany and Switzerland) are states the main source for local governments. Around 3% of all grants flow across states/regions and 2% across local governments. However, such horizontal arrangements not always being recorded properly may be underestimated.

In the period 2000 to 2004, the share of grants to total tax revenue remained almost stable (Table 7). However, average figures conceal that almost three quarters of countries experienced an above-average growth of transfers. In a majority of countries, transfer growth laid above total government expenditure growth (not shown in Table 8). Grants from the central government, by far the most significant donor, rose by an annual 6% for states and 8% for local governments, exceeding the growth rate of total tax revenue. The international level emerges as a source for regional government finance, reflecting development assistance from the European Union to the regions. While some transfer growth reflects institutional reforms such as responsibility reassignment or a swap between tax revenue and grants, some transfer growth could be the result of creeping demand increases from sub-central governments and hint at growing pressure on the central budget.

Taxonomy of grants

The design of grants should be captured with a taxonomy that reflects their variety (Figure 3).⁵ The main dividing line separates earmarked from nonearmarked grants; a distinction crucial for assessing sub-central fiscal autonomy. Both types of grants can be divided further into mandatory and discretionary transfers, reflecting the legal background that governs their allocation. Earmarked grants may be further subdivided into matching and non-matching grants, *i.e.* whether the transfer is linked to SCG own expenditure or not. A final subdivision is between grants for capital expenditure and grants for current expenditure. On the non-earmarked side grants may be further subdivided into block and general purpose grants, where the latter provide more freedom of use; since both forms are unconditional, the distinction often collapses. The taxonomy is consistent with the one established by the Council of Europe.

With roughly 60%, non-earmarked grants account for a larger part of total grant revenue, but the remaining 40% give the central level a strong stake in SCG budgets (Table 8). It is slightly surprising to see that earmarked grants, and hence central control, are more important for state and regional governments than for local governments. Around a third of earmarked grants is matching, *i.e.* linked to SCG own expenditure. Through lowering the price of sub-central public services matching

		i minaan gi o i	1000 2000	2001		
Country	Change in total tax revenue	Central level	State level	Local level	International	Social Security
	-0.8					
State	-0.7	1.2	-	-	-	_
Local	-0.1	9.3	-7.2	_	_	_
Austria	-0.7					
State	-0.3	3.9	-8.6	0.9	1.8	1.7
Local	-0.5	-0.2	9.8	-7.9	19.4	-0.1
Belgium	1.4					
State	0.8	11.1	1.9	13.6	45.0	-18.4
Local	0.6	14.9	3.0	-	_	-5.3
Canada	1.4					
State	0.9	5.7	_	-31.3	_	_
Local	0.5	-3.9	4.0	_	_	_
Czech Republic	6.8					
Local	6.8	30.8	_	_	_	_
Denmark	2.5	2010				
Local	2.5	83	_	_	_	_
Finland	3.9	0.9				
Local	3.9	12.1	_	_	6.0	_
France	13	12.1			0.0	
Local	13	65	_	_	_	_
Cermany	-0.1	0.7				
Länder	0.0	-0.2	_	0.7	0.8	_
Local	-0.1	4.5	_0.4	0.7	0.0	_2 4
Greece	0.1	4.7	-0.4			-2.4
Local	0.8	13.4	_	_	_	_
Hungary	17	19.4	_	_	_	_
Local	1.7	13.0	_	65	_	12.0
Iceland	0.4	13.9	_	0.7	_	12.9
Local	0.4	14.6				
Local	0.4	14.0	-	-	-	-
Local	1.3	0.6		11.6		
Local	1.5	9.0	-	11.0	-	_
State ²	5.0	11.1				
State	5.0	11.1	-	_	-	_
LOCAI Notherlanda	2.4					
Less	5.0	7.2				
Local	5.0	1.2	_	_	-	—
Norway	-3.5	2.2				
Local	-3.5	-2.3	-	-	-	-
Polana	2.1	0.0		10.4		
Local	2.1	8.0	-	-12.4	-	-
Portugal	0.7	7 0			5.0	17 (
Local	0.7	7.3	-	-	5.0	17.6
Spain	-7.1	- -		15 0		10 (
Regional	-6.6	9.7	-	15.3	-	-40.6
Local	-0.5	4.5	10.8	-	-	-17.0
Switzerland	1.5	a –				
State	1.0	2.5	13.8	-0.4	-	-
Local	0.5	-3.1	1.9	6.4	-	-

 Table 7. Evolution of grants by donor and recipient sub-sector

 Annual growth rates 2000-2004

© OECD 2006

Country	Change in total tax revenue	Central level	State level	Local level	International	Social Security
Turkey Local	-19.2 -19.2	10.6	_	_	_	_
Unweighted average State Local	-0.2 0.2	6.4 8.3	1.0 1.1	-0.3 0.2	6.7 1.5	-8.2 0.3

Table 7. Evolution of grants by donor and recipient sub-sector (cont.) Annual growth rates 2000-2004

1. 2003 figures.

2. Including grants to local government.

Source: National sources and OECD Revenue Statistics 1965-2004, 2005 Edition.



grants are thought to foster spending, but by doing this may put some pressure on both central and sub-central budgets. Around three-quarters of all earmarked grants are mandatory, giving SCG more revenue security but leaving less scope for central governments to adjust expenditures rapidly to overall fiscal conditions. Only one-quarter of earmarked transfers can be – at least from a legal, if not political, point of view – adjusted within short notice. Whether discretionary transfers fluctuate more than mandatory grants remain to be analyzed once data for a longer time period are available.

Grant design has little evolved between 2000 and 2004, except for the strong increase in the share of earmarked matching grants, at the expense of almost any other transfer type (Table 9). This evolution could mean that matching grants indeed exert some pressure on central – and also sub-central – budgets. The share of non earmarked grants has slightly increased, pointing at more fiscal leeway for SCG, whereby the local level has benefited more than the state and

			Earmarke	ed grants			Non e	armarked	grants	
		Manc	latory		Discre	tionary	Mand	atory		Total
	Mato	hing	Non-M	atching			General	Block	Discretio- nary	TOLAI
	Current	Capital	Current	Capital	Current	Capital	grants	grants		
Australia										
State	-	-	-	-	81.6	11.3	2.9	-	4.1	100.0
Local	-	-	-	-	16.7	-	83.3	-	-	100.0
Austria										
State	57.0	1.8	2.0	18.4	0).6	12.5	0.2	7.5	100.0
Local	39.3	3.5	7.4	34.8	1	.2	13.7	0.1	0.0	100.0
Belgium										
State	67.2	10.9	14	.7	1.0	0.1	6.0	-	-	100.0
Local	71	.6	C).1	0.5	23.8	4.0	-	-	100.0
Canada										
State	-	-	18	3.6	-	-	81.4	-	-	100.0
Local	-	_	91.4	4.3	-	-	4.3	-	-	100.0
Czech										
Republic										
Local	12	.4	_	_	74.1	13.6	_	_	-	100.0
Denmark										
Local	37	.9	0).8	4.9	0.1	56.2	_	0.0	100.0
Finland										
Local	5	.7	_	_	1.8	1.6	16.3	74.0	0.6	100.0
France										
Local	6	.5	C).1	1.3	3.8	81.9	6.4	_	100.0
Greece										
Local	61.3	38.7	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	100.0
Hungary										
Local	40.1	7.4	_	_	3.8	5.6	41.9	_	1.1	100.0
Iceland							,			
Local	3	0	8	3 4	65	31	79.0	_	_	100.0
	-		-		•					
Regional		47		47	10.6	87	714	_	_	100.0
Local	_		_		39.4	36.1	24.5	_	_	100.0
Korea					27.1	50.1				100.0
Local	6	4	_	_	11.2	10.2	69.9	_	24	100.0
Mexico							07.7			100.0
State ²	53	9	_	_	5	3	40.8	_	_	100.0
Local		••			-					100.0
Netherlands ³										
Local	73	6	_	_	_	_	26.4			100.0
Norway	17						20.1			100.0
Local	12	2	c	0 4	194	39	_	55 1		100.0
Poland	12	··-	~		17.7	2.7		<i>))</i> .1		100.0
Local	24 1	5 /	_	_	_	_	70.5	_		100.0
Portugal	27.1	7.7					10.7			100.0
Local	-	-	-	-	11.	.4	85.0	-	3.6	100.0

Table 8. Grant revenue by type of grant, 2004As a percentage of total grant revenue

		As a percentage of total grant revenue								
			Earmarke	ed grants			Non e	armarked	grants	
		Manc	latory		Discre	tionary	Mand	atory		Total
	Matching Non-Matching				General	Block	Discretio- nary	TOTAL		
	Current	Capital	Current	Capital	Current	Capital	grants	grants		
Spain										
Regional	8.1	5.4	-	-	0.9	0.5	85.2	-	-	100.0
Local	14.3	16.4	3.	1	-	-	66.2	-	-	100.0
Sweden										
Local	-	-	-	-	0.7	28.1	71.3	-	-	100.0
Switzerland										
State	64.8	12.9	-	-	-	-	22.2	-	-	100.0
Local	71.7	8.7	-	-	-	-	19.6	-	-	100.0
Turkey										
Local	-	-	-	-	77	7.3	-	-	22.7	100.0
Unweiahted										
average										
State	31.4	4.5	4.4	2.9	12.5	2.6	40.3	0.0	1.5	100.0
Local	22.9	3.8	5.7	1.9	9.2	9.9	38.8	6.5	1.5	100.0

Table 8. Grant revenue by type of grant, 2004 (cont.)

1. 2002 figures.

2. Including grants to local government.

3. 2003 figures.

Source: National sources.

regional level. Again structural change varies widely across countries, pointing at some path-dependency of the intergovernmental transfer system.

Grants by government function

Grants are used for different policy areas or government functions (Table 10). The National Accounts divide government activities into ten functions in the socalled Classification of Functions of Government (COFOG), and this division is also applied to intergovernmental grants. Data are available only for earmarked grants because unconditional grants are not tied to specific government functions. While National Accounts data are available for eight countries, the questionnaire asked all countries to provide data with the same precision as provided by the National Accounts. In the end the data of 11 countries could be used to assess and compare the functional structure of intergovernmental grants.

The category "general public services" accounts for the largest, rather unspecific share of intergovernmental transfers. Education is the second largest category, pointing at the weight of local and regional governments in providing primary and secondary education, with central government retaining considerable

			Earmarke	ed grants			Non e	earmarked	grants
		Manc	latory		D.		Mand	latory	
	Matc	hing	Non-Ma	atching	Discre	tionary	General	Block	Discretion- ary
	Current	Capital	Current	Capital	Current	Capital	grants	grants	
Australia									
State	_	-	-	-	12.0	-0.2	-13.6	-	1.8
Local	_	-	-	-	9.6	-0.5	-9.1	-	-
Austria									
State	2.3	-0.7	-0.9	-1.2	(0.0	0.8	0.0	-0.2
Local	0.7	-5.5	2.5	-0.2	-().3	2.8	0.0	0.0
Belgium									
State	-6.9	9.7	-2	.1	1.0	-0.3	-1	.3	-
Local	-15.5	-3.2	0	.0	-2.0	23.1	-2	2.4	-
Canada									
State	_	_	-0	.6	-	_	0.6	_	-
Local	_	_	-0.4	-0.2	-	_	0.6	_	-
Czech									
Republic									
Local	-16	5.8	_	_	33.7	-16.9	-	_	-
Denmark									
Local	-1	1.9	0	.2	0.8	0.0	0.9	_	0.0
Finland									
Local	-4	4.1	_	_	0.2	-1.5	16.3	-10.1	-0.8
France									
Local	-1	1.2	0	.0	-1.1	-1.1	6.7	-3.3	-
Greece									
Local	7.7	-7.7	_	_	-	_	-	_	-
Hungary									
Local	-0.5	-1.7	_	_	-1.3	0.6	6.0	_	-3.1
Iceland									
Local	-15	5.4	1	.2	-11.3	0.7	24.8	_	-
Korea									
Local	-2	2.9	-	_	0.7	-1.3	3.2	_	0.3
Mexico									
State ²	-	3.8	-	_	-0.4	-3.4	-	_	
Local									
Netherlands ¹									
Local		5.0	-	-	-	-	-5	5.0	-
Norway									
Local	-6	8.7	8	.4	2.2	0.7	-	-2.6	_
Poland									
Local	-8.4	-1.0	-	-	-	-	9.4	-	-
Portugal									
Local	-	-	-	-	-5.1	1.5	-	3.6	
Spain									
Regional	-35.3	0.9	-	-	0.0	0.1	34.3	-	-
Local	-1.5	3.0	0.	6	-	-	-2.1	-	-
									1

Table 9. Evolution of grant revenue by type of grant
Change in 2000-2004, percentage points

	change in 2000-2004, percentage points								
			Earmark		Non e	armarked	grants		
		Manc	latory		Discre	tionom	Mand	atory	
	Mate	ching	Non-M	atching	Discretionary Current Capital		General	Block	Discretion- ary
	Current	Capital	Current	Capital			grants	grants	
Switzerland									
State	1.4	-1.9	-	-	-	-	0.5	_	-
Local	-1.9	-2.1	-	-	-	-	3.9	-	-
Turkey									
Local	-	-	-	-	12	2.4	-	-	-12.4
Unweighted									
average									
State	-5.0	1.1	-0.5	-0.2	1.8	-0.1	2.6	0.0	0.2
Local	-3.6	-1.0	0.7	0.0	1.4	0.2	3.2	-0.9	0.0

Table 9. Evolution of grant revenue by type of grant (cont.) Change in 2000-2004, percentage points

1. 2003 figures.

2. Including grants to local government.

Source: National sources.

control over funding and regulation. "Economic affairs" is the third largest category, largely reflecting the weight of shared responsibilities in local and regional development policy. Again the grant structure varies widely, reflecting the different responsibility assignments and funding arrangements in countries. In general, except for "defence" and "public order and safety", some degree of responsibility sharing and overlapping characterises most government functions. However, the low number of country responses does not yet allow for stringent conclusions.

FISCAL AUTONOMY OF SUB-CENTRAL GOVERNMENTS

Revenue structure

Sub-central governments rely on own tax revenue, shared taxes and intergovernmental grants. In Table 11 the three main categories of fiscal revenue are put together, to allow for an overall assessment and comparison across SCGs. In order to facilitate the reading of the table, a number of tax autonomy and intergovernmental grant categories are aggregated. Finally nine categories encompass the different revenue sources available to state and local governments. As for all statistics in this article, borrowing and fees are not included due to the lack of comparable data.

With an un-weighted average of roughly 60% against 40%, tax revenue accounts for a larger share of SCG revenue than intergovernmental grants (Table 11). With 38% autonomous taxes are the single largest category. Earmarked

				In pe	r cent of to	tal earmark	ed grants	5				
	General public services	Defence	Public order and safety	Economic affairs	Environ- ment protection	Housing and community amenities	Health	Recreation, culture, religion	Education	Social protection	Others	Total
	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10		
Australia Austria	-	-	0.2	9.0	-	4.9	39.6	0.1	37.5	8.4	0.3	100.0
Belgium Canada	-	-	24.3	21.4	-	_	0.1	-	25.3	28.9	-	100.0
Czech Republic Denmark	9.3	0.0	0.5	6.0	0.3	7.5	2.2	0.7	54.3	17.7	1.4	100.0
Finland	5.5	_	0.6	17.2	1.8	0.4	12.0	16.9	27.0	18.7	_	100.0
France	16.9	1.7	8.0	13.0	2.3	22.4	-	30.8	5.0	_	-	100.0
Germany												
Greece Hungary	56.6	-	-	18.9	5.6	5.6	-	7.2	-	6.1	-	100.0
Iceland												
Italy ¹ Korea Mexico	16.9	_	-	40.6	3.8	-	31.7	_	7.0	-	-	100.0
Netherlands	0.0	_	0.6	1.4	1.1	8.6	5.3	0.5	22.4	50.2	9,9	100
Norway	79.3	0.2	0.1	_	0.0	0.1	14.0	_	4.7	1.7	_	100.0
Poland	3.1	3.5	16.2	4.4	8.9	5.5	10.8	5.2	17.9	24.6	_	100.0
Portugal	3.2	26.0	_		61.3	9.5	100.0					
Spain	42.4	_	0.2	35.4	0.6	3.2	4.7	0.9	2.5	10.0	_	100.0
Sweden Switzerland	3.5	1.1	0.0	6.2	3.8	-	56.3	-	29.1	-	-	100.0
Turkey	43.2	-	-	14.2	19.1	22.2	-	0.9	-	0.5	-	100.0
Unweighted average	20.0	0.5	3.6	15.3	3.4	5.7	17.0	4.5	16.6	11.9	1.5	100.0
1. 2002.												

Table 10. Grants by government function, 2004

Source: National sources.

	Aut	onomous ta	axes	0	Tax sł	naring			Gra	ants	
	Discretion on rates and relief	Discretion on rates	Discretion on relief	Revenue split set by SCG	Revenue split set with SCG consent	Revenue split set by CG, pluri- annual	Revenue split set by CG, annual	Other taxes	Earmarked	Non earmarked	Total
Australia											
States	41.1	-	_	-	34.4	_	_	-	21.9	2.7	100.0
Local	80.6	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	3.1	16.2	100.0
Austria											
States	3.7	-	-	-	43.5	-	-	5.5	37.4	10.0	100.0
Local	2.3	4.5	-	-	55.4	-	-	21.2	14.3	2.3	100.0
Belgium											
States	57.1	-	-	-	32.4	-	-	-	9.7	0.8	100.0
Local	7.5	65.0	-	-	-	-	-	2.7	23.8	0.9	100.0
Canada	= (0										
Provinces	76.0	-	-	-	5.5	-	-	-	3.0	15.5	100.0
Local [®]	0.9	47.7	-	-	-	-	-	1.3	48.0	2.2	100.0
Czech Reput	20	2.4				51.9		0.0	41.7		100.0
Denmark	5.2	2.4	-	-	-	J1.0	-	0.9	41.7	-	100.0
Local	_	67.9	_	_	_	2.2	_	18	12.5	12.6	100.0
Finland		01.7				2.2		4.0	12.9	12.0	100.0
Local	_	60.4	_	_	_	_	67	0.1	34	29.4	100.0
France		00.1					0.1	0.1	2.1	-/	100.0
Local	39.3	4.6	5.0	_	_	_	_	5.6	5.7	39.8	100.0
Germany											
Länder	_	1.9	_	_	68.2	_	_	8.9	21.0		100.0
Local	8.7	16.7	-	-	23.7	-	-	0.6	50.3		100.0
Greece											
Local	-	11.6	-	6.3	-	-	-	-	82.1	-	100.0
Italy											
Regional	-	28.4	-	-	11.4	8.5	-	-	14.8	36.9	100.0
Local	12.1	22.6	-	-	-	5.9	-	4.2	41.7	13.5	100.0
Korea											
Local	-	24.9	-	-	-	-	-	12.8	18.0	44.3	100.0
Mexico											
States	5.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	54.4	40.6	100.0
Local											
Netneriands		11.0						0.1	61.7	26 E	100.0
Local	-	11.0	-	-	-	-	-	0.1	01.7	20.5	100.0
Local	1.6	_	45.3	_	_	_	_	_	24.2	20.0	100.0
Poland	1.0		47.5					_	24.2	29.0	100.0
Local	_	11.7	_	_	_	38.6	_	0.2	179	31.6	100.0
Portugal						50.0		0.2	,	51.0	100.0
Local	_	21.2	_	_	_	8.9	_	18.1	5.7	46.0	100.0
Spain											
Regions	32.6	0.1	-	-	23.3	-	-	0.0	7.0	37.1	100
Local	16.1	30.4	-	-	12.7	-	-	0.0	13.1	27.8	100
Sweden ²											
Local	-	74.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	7.5	18.5	100.0
Switzerland											
States	57.4	-	-	-	6.1	-	-	-	28.0	8.5	100.0
Local	2.0	66.9	-	-	-	-		-	25.2	5.9	100.0

Table 11. Revenue structure of sub-central governmentsPercentages of total sub-central revenue, 2002

178

	Aut	Autonomous taxes			Tax sharing				Grants		
	Discretion on rates and relief	Discretion on rates	Discretion on relief	Revenue split set by SCG	Revenue split set with SCG consent	Revenue split set by CG, pluri- annual	Revenue split set by CG, annual	Other taxes	Earmarked	Non earmarked	Total
Unweighted average States Local	30.3 9.2	3.4 28.6	2.6	_ 0.3	25.0 4.8	0.9 5.6	-0.4	1.6 3.8	21.9 26.3	16.9 18.2	100.0 100.0

 Table 11.
 Revenue structure of sub-central governments (cont.)

 Percentages of total sub-central revenue, 2002

1. Local figures with Quebec tax autonomy.

2. 2004.

3. Including grants to local government.

Source: National sources and OECD Revenue statistics 1965-2004, 2005 Edition.

grants follow as the second largest category with 22%, indicating that more than one-fifth of total revenue is largely outside the discretion of SCG. Non-earmarked grants account for 19%, while tax sharing arrangements – widely used in constitutionally federal countries – account for 16%. Countries with tax sharing arrangements have a smaller grant system and *vice versa*, suggesting some substitutability between the two fiscal arrangements. Again there is wide variation across countries; while for some tiers own tax revenue accounts for the overwhelming part (Canada states, Switzerland states), for others it is tax sharing (Australia states, Austria local, Germany states, Czech Republic), for others again it is either earmarked or non-earmarked grants (Greece, Mexico, Netherlands).

Fiscal autonomy indicator set

Fiscal autonomy of sub-central governments is multi-faceted and must be assessed using several indicators. Table 12 provides a summary of fiscal autonomy indicators developed in this article, including the share of tax revenue allocated to sub-central governments, the discretion over those taxes, the share of transfers allocated to sub-central governments and the percentage of earmarked transfers. Although not treated in this article, two indicators for fiscal rules are added, reflecting, respectively, the right to run deficits and the right to borrow (Box 2).

Altogether, the table comprises six indicators capturing fiscal autonomy from different angles. The seventh indicator "share of autonomous SCG tax revenue" is the product of the sub-central tax revenue share and the autonomy over those taxes; this product comes closest to what one could call a composite indicator of fiscal autonomy. Correlation between indicators is weak, and statistical concepts like factor analysis fail to produce a single "summary indicator of sub-central fiscal autonomy".⁶

			In percent	ages			
	SGG tax revenue/Total tax revenue	Discretion on rates and relief/Total SCG tax revenue	Total grants/ Total tax revenue	Non earmarked grants/Total grants	Budget and deficit autonomy	Borrowing autonomy	SCG autonomous tax revenue/ Total tax revenue
Australia	31.4	58.8	11.0	13.1			18.5
States	28.4	54.4	9.8	7.1	10.0	62.5	15.4
Local	3.0	100.0	1.3	83.3	10.0	62.5	3.0
Austria	18.4	7.6	15.2	19.0			1.4
States	8.8	7.0	11.5	20.2	40.0	100.0	0.6
Local	9.6	8.1	3.8	13.9	40.0	100.0	0.8
Belgium	27.8	69.7	11.1	5.3			19.4
States	22.8	63.8	3.9	6.0			14.6
Local	5.0	96.4	7.1	4.0			4.8
Canada	44.1	94.1	17.5	43.9			41.5
Provinces	35.5	93.3	9.0	81.4			33.1
Local	8.6	97.4	8.5	4.3			8.4
Czech Republic	12.5	9.6	12.4	0.0			1.2
Local	12.5	9.6	12.4	0.0	70.0	62.5	1.2
Denmark	35.6	90.7	13.4	56.3			32.3
Local	35.6	90.7	13.4	56.3	0.0	25.0	32.3
Finland	21.5	89.9	12.1	90.8			19.3
Local	21.5	89.9	12.1	90.8	60.0	75.0	19.3
France	10.0	89.8	8.6	88.3			8.1
Local	10.0	89.8	8.6	88.3	60.0	37.5	8.1
Germany	28.7	14.2	12.8	43.4			4.1
Länder	21.8	2.4	5.9	42.5	70.0	87.5	0.5
Local	7.0	51.1	7.0	44.4	0.0	62.5	3.6
Greece	0.9	64.6	4.1	0.0			0.6
Local	0.9	64.6	4.1	0.0			0.6
Hungary			16.7	43.1			
Local			16.7	43.1			
Iceland	25.2	91.2	1.9	79.0			23.0
Local	25.2	91.2	1.9	79.0	100.0	62.5	23.0
Italy	16.4	64.7	19.1	55.1			10.6
Regional	11.3	58.8	12.7	71.4			6.6
Local	5.2	77.6	6.4	24.5			4.0
Japan	26.0	79.8				50.0	20.8
Local	26.0	79.8			70.0	50.0	20.8
Korea	18.9	64.3	34.4	72.3	(0.0	10 5	12.1
Local	18.9	64.3	34.4	72.3	60.0	12.5	12.1
Mexico	3.4	100.0	43.4	40.8			3.4
States	2.4	100.0	43.4	40.8			2.4
Local	1.0	100.0	0.0	24			1.0
Inernands	3.0 2.4	99.2	27.8 27.8	26.4	0.0	75.0	3.0 2.4
LOCAL	5.0	99.2	27.8	20.4	0.0	15.0	5.0
Inorway	12.9	100.0	11.5	22.1 55 1	40.0	E0.0	12.9
Local	12.9	100.0	11.5	22.1 70 F	40.0	90.0	12.9
Polana	17.5	23.2	37.9	70.5 70.5	80.0	275	4.1
LOCAL	17.2	23.2	51.9	10.5	60.0	51.7	4.1

Table 12. Summary of fiscal autonomy indicators

180

			in percent	ages			
	SGG tax revenue/Total tax revenue	Discretion on rates and relief/Total SCG tax revenue	Total grants/ Total tax revenue	Non earmarked grants/Total grants	Budget and deficit autonomy	Borrowing autonomy	SCG autonomous tax revenue/ Total tax revenue
Portugal	6.0	44.0	7.9	88.6			2.6
Local	6.0	44.0	7.9	88.6	60.0	37.5	2.6
Spain	26.6	64.8	19.4	79.9			17.3
Regions	18.1	58.4	14.0	85.2	0.0	25.0	10.6
Local	8.5	78.6	5.5	66.2	0.0	37.5	6.7
Sweden	32.1	100.0	9.4				32.1
Local	32.1	100.0	9.4		40.0	100.0	32.1
Switzerland	43.1	94.0	23.4	21.4			40.6
States	27.0	90.4	16.1	22.2	70.0	75.0	24.4
Local	16.2	100.0	7.2	19.6	60.0	37.5	16.2
Turkey	6.5	0.0	15.8	22.7			0.0
Local	6.5	0.0	15.8	22.7	70.0	25.0	0.0
United Kingdom	4.5	100.0					4.5
Local	4.5	100.0					4.5
Unweighted							
Average							
States	19.6	58.7	14.0	41.9	38.0	70.0	12.0
Local	12.4	73.1	11.3	45.4	45.6	52.8	9.4
a	1050						

Table 12. Summary of fiscal autonomy indicators (cont.)

Source: National sources and OECD, Revenue Statistics 1965-2004, 2005 Edition.

A few (non) correlations among fiscal autonomy indicators

As described above, the various indicators for fiscal autonomy are not or only weakly correlated, pointing at the multidimensionality of fiscal autonomy and the great diversity of fiscal institutions in OECD countries. Some of these non-correlations are interesting from a policy perspective since they may either support or contradict a number of beliefs in the area of decentralised public finance. The following scatter diagrams show a number of simple two-dimensional relationships.

• The first scatter diagram shows the relationship between the share of subcentral tax revenue and the degree of autonomy over these taxes. The share of sub-central government's own tax revenue is hardly related to their autonomy over those taxes. While in some countries SCGs have wide discretion over a small tax base, in some other countries SCGs have very little autonomy over a large tax base, especially in tax sharing arrangements. The picture again supports the view that a simple share of tax revenue is a poor measure to assess true fiscal autonomy of sub-central governments and that for analytical purposes, *e.g.* assessing the impact of decentralisation on aggregate finance, more sophisticated indicators should be used.

Box 2. Fiscal rules and their impact on sub-central government autonomy

Rules constraining the discretionary power of sub-central budget policymakers have become quite widespread among OECD economies. While fiscal rules for sub-central governments can be a means to achieve sustainable long-term aggregate finance, they reduce the power governments have over their own budget. The same fiscal rules can therefore be viewed from both a "stringency" and an "autonomy" perspective; with a more stringent rule assumed to reduce the discretion a SCG has over its budget or selected budget items.

In order to assess the extent SCG fiscal autonomy is constrained by fiscal rules, two indicators for fiscal rules stringency were calculated based on Sutherland, Price and Joumard (2006). A simple linear transformation of these indicators yields "fiscal rule autonomy" indicators. The "fiscal rule autonomy" indicators have the same dimensions as the other fiscal autonomy indicators shown in Table 12 and the same meaning, *i.e.* the higher the value, the more lenient the respective rule and the higher sub-central budget autonomy.



Figure 4. Relationship between fiscal autonomy indicators

Source: National sources and OECD Revenue Statistics 1965-2004.

Panel A. Sub-central tax share and sub-central taxing power

Figure 4. Relationship between fiscal autonomy indicators (cont.)

Panel B. Sub-central tax share and size of the grant system



Panel C. Sub-central tax share and budget autonomy



Source: National sources and OECD Revenue Statistics 1965-2004.

• The second scatter diagram shows the relationship between the share of sub-central tax revenue and the size of the grant system. While fiscal policy could substitute own tax revenue for intergovernmental grants and *vice versa*,

there is actually no relationship between the two fiscal arrangements. While in some countries small local tax revenue meets with a small grant system, others combine large local tax revenue with a large fiscal gap and an extended transfer system to cover it. Only unconditional grants (not shown in the figure) and own tax revenue seem to be substitutes, which points to the close relationship between tax sharing and grants arrangements. Policy makers might be interested to know whether increased sub-central tax autonomy can reduce the need for intergovernmental transfers.

• The third scatter diagram shows the relationship between the share of subcentral tax revenue and the extent to which SCG are allowed to run deficits. This figure actually assesses whether countries with high sub-central taxing power apply stricter rules on fiscal behaviour. The lack of a close relationship suggests that in practice fiscal rules are neither a substitute nor a complement for SCG autonomy. Some countries grant SCG large tax autonomy but impose strict fiscal rules, others are likely to do the reverse, while some countries restrict both forms of fiscal autonomy. Large local and regional tax autonomy is neither coupled to strict nor to lenient fiscal rules.

Any conclusion with respect to the relationship between different fiscal autonomy indicators must be taken with great care since those indicators represent only one point in time. To assess the dynamics between different autonomy indicators one needs to observe fiscal design and its outcome over several time periods. What those indicators say after all is that fiscal federal design is partially country-specific and its evolution likely to be path-dependent.

SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK FOR POLICY ANALYSIS

This article assessed the power of sub-central governments over their revenue sources. For that purpose, a detailed set of indicators was developed encompassing both tax autonomy and autonomy over revenue from intergovernmental grants. Tax revenue was divided into categories ranging from full autonomy over tax bases and rates to no autonomy at all, while revenue from intergovernmental grants was divided into earmarked and non-earmarked grants. The resulting indicators are supposed to give a more accurate picture of the true fiscal power that sub-central governments enjoy.

Results suggest that state and local discretion over fiscal resources is limited and that the simple share of sub-central to total revenue overestimates SCG fiscal power. In particular:

• The taxing power of sub-central governments is limited. Sub-central governments command 60% of their own tax revenue only, while the remaining 40% are part of tax sharing arrangements or under entire control of the central government. Taxing power is lower for state than for local governments. With

31%, the share of sub-central to total tax revenue remained stable over the period 1995-2002, but the autonomy over this share has slightly increased.

- Sub-central taxation relies strongly on mobile taxes. With more than 40%, the highly mobile personal and corporate income tax revenue accounts for the largest part of sub-central tax revenue. Taxes on immovable property account for 19% only. Many taxes potentially prone to spatial mobility are part of tax sharing arrangements or fiscal equalisation arrangements that limit the danger of sub-central tax erosion, though.
- A large part of intergovernmental grants is earmarked. With roughly 60%, nonearmarked grants account for a large part of total grant revenue, but the remaining 40% give central governments still a strong stake in SCG budgets. Earmarked grants are more important for state and regional governments than for local governments. On average, expenditures on grants have increased more than total government expenditure, pointing to a certain pressure on the central budget.
- Taxes are more important a revenue source than grants. Tax revenue accounts for 60% of sub-central revenue, while grants account for 40%. Autonomous taxes are the single largest category with 38%, but earmarked grants follow as the second largest category with 22%. Tax sharing arrangements account for 16%. Countries with tax sharing arrangements have a smaller grant system and *vice versa*, suggesting some substitutability between the two fiscal arrangements.
- Fiscal autonomy indicators are largely uncorrelated. There is no single pattern of sub-central fiscal design, and fiscal federal design is at least partially country specific and path-dependent. If set against each other, the various indicators used reveal that there is no relationship between the share of sub-central tax revenue and tax autonomy, nor between the amount of sub-central tax revenue and the size of the grants system, nor between the extent of fiscal autonomy and the stringency of fiscal rules.

Although a part of fiscal federal design is utterly country specific and its evolution path-dependent, some policy issues are common to all or most countries. The new database can open the way for a more focused analysis of fiscal federalism issues:

• Fiscal autonomy and fiscal stability. A key policy issue in fiscal federalism is how sub-central autonomy affects fiscal stability. Evidence on this is scant and inconclusive. While some policy research suggests that fiscal autonomy leads to a deficit bias (*e.g.* de Mello, 2000) or has pro-cyclical effects (*e.g.* Wibbels and Rodden, 2005), others come to opposite findings (*e.g.* Neyapti, 2003 or Ebel and Yilmaz, 2002). One of the main reasons for inconclusive results is the poor data used for defining fiscal autonomy. The

refined dataset developed in this article allows better assessing the link between fiscal federal arrangements and fiscal outcomes and may give more precise guidance on whether autonomy is compatible with stability.

- Autonomy and efficient public service delivery. Another policy issue is whether ceding more fiscal autonomy to the sub-central level will increase or decrease public service efficiency. Although higher autonomy is thought to be associated with higher efficiency, governments are often hesitant to increase sub-central taxing power or to substitute earmarked for general grants, fearing that without proper central regulation sub-central jurisdictions are either unable or unwilling to deliver an efficient and equitable access to public services. Linked to outcome variables the new database can help evaluate the effect of different budget rules and funding arrangements on sub-central spending efficiency.
- Sub-central taxes versus intergovernmental grants. Countries have adopted different approaches towards funding sub-central public services. While some give taxing power to sub-central governments, others use intergovernmental grants. The substitutability between both arrangements raises policy questions such as: Which arrangement allows for higher public service efficiency? Which arrangement leads to more equity across jurisdictions? Which arrangement puts more pressure on central and sub-central budgets, and what role can fiscal rules play? The new dataset can be used to assess the relationship between the two fiscal federal arrangements and their interaction with the various policy objectives.
- Which taxes at the sub central level? Contrary to the allegations of fiscal federalism theory, highly mobile income taxation makes up for more than 40% of average sub-central tax revenue. While this arrangement functions well in a number of countries since mobile taxes are often built into tax sharing or fiscal equalisation schemes in some others sub-central jurisdictions appear to struggle with tax erosion. A country-wise analysis of the new database can help identify tax arrangements that help maintain fiscal autonomy of the sub-central level while containing the potential drawbacks of tax mobility.

In the coming years, the OECD Network on Fiscal Relations across Government Levels is poised to work on this policy agenda.

Notes

- 1. Since for some categories no or very small numbers were reported, some sub-categories were merged and their number reduced from 13 to 10.
- 2. Fiscal equalisation also limits tax competition, see Blöchliger et al. (2007).
- 3. The central government figures for Greece include EU grants. In other countries, grants are directly paid to the receiving sub-central government.
- 4. Intergovernmental grants are an expenditure item and they should be set in relation to total expenditure. However, National Accounts data on government expenditure are lacking for a number of countries, so total tax revenue was used as a proxy, which was taken from the *Revenue Statistics*.
- 5. Details on how block grants are distinguished from general purpose grants can be found in Bergvall, Charbit and Kraan (2006).
- 6. This supports the findings of Sutherland, Price and Joumard who found very little correlation between indicators for fiscal rules (Sutherland, Price and Joumard, 2005).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Bergvall, D., C. Charbit, D. Kraan and O. Merk (2006), "Intergovernmental Grants and Decentralized Public Spending", OECD Journal of Budgeting, forthcoming.
- Blöchliger, H., C. Charbit, O. Merk and L. Mizell (2007), "Fiscal Equalisation in OECD Countries", OECD Fiscal Federalism Network Working Papers, No. 4.
- Joumard, I and P.M. Kongsrud (2003), "Fiscal Relations Across Government Levels", OECD *Economic Studies*, No. 36, pp. 155-228.
- De Mello, L.R. (2000), "Fiscal Decentralisation and Intergovernmental Fiscal Relations: A Cross Country Analysis", World Development 28, pp. 365-380.
- Ebel, R.D. and S. Yilmaz (2002), "On the Measurement and Impact of Fiscal Decentralisation", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, 2809, Washington.
- Neyapti, B. (2003), "Fiscal Decentralisation and Deficits: International Evidence", Discussion paper 2003/2, www.tek.org.tr.
- OECD (1999), "Taxing Powers of State and Local Government", Tax Policy Studies No. 1, Paris.
- OECD (2005), National Accounts of OECD Countries 1993-2004, Paris.
- OECD, Fiscal Equalisation in OECD Countries, Paris, forthcoming.
- Sutherland, D. R. Price and I. Joumard (2006), "Sub-Central Government Fiscal Rules", OECD Economic Studies No. 41, pp. 141-181.
- Wibbles, E. and J. Rodden (2005), "Fiscal Decentralisation and the Business Cycle: An Empirical Study of Eight Federations", mimeo.

OECD ECONOMIC STUDIES

Recent issues

No. 40, 2005/1

International licensing and the strengthening of intellectual property rights in developing countries during the 1990s	Walter G. Park and Douglas Lippoldt
Counting immigrants and expatriates in OECD countries: A new perspective	Jean-Christophe Dumont and Georges Lemaître
Corporate sector vulnerability and aggregate activity	Mike Kennedy and Torsten Sløk
Explaining risk premia on bonds and equities	Torsten Sløk and Mike Kennedy
Whatever happened to Canada-US economic growth and productivity performance in the information age?	Tarek M. Harchaoui and Faouzi Tarkhani
Indicator models of real GDP growth in the major OECD economies	Franck Sédillot and Nigel Pain
(13 2005 01 1 P) ISSN 0255-0822, 217 pag	es
No. 41, 2005/2	
Policies, institutions and fertility rates: A panel data analysis for OECD countries	Anna Cristina D'Addio and Marco Mira d'Ercole
Are structural reforms the answer to global current account imbalances?	Mike Kennedy and Torsten Sløk
A comparison of structural levels of productivity in the major industrialized countries	Renaud Bourlès and Gilbert Cette
Foreign affiliates in OECD economies: Presence, performance and contribution to host countries' growth	Chiara Criscuolo
Sub-central government fiscal rules	Douglas Sutherland, Robert Price and Isabelle Joumard
(13 2005 02 1 P) ISSN 0255-0822, 181 pag	es

No. 42, 2006/1

The determinants of unemployment across OECD countries: Reassessing the role of policies and institutions	Andrea Bassanini and Romain Duval
An empirical investigation of political economy factors behind structural reforms in the OECD	Jens Høj, Vincenzo Galasso, Giuseppe Nicoletti and Thai-Thanh Dang
Time as a trade barrier: Implications for low-income countries	Hildegunn Kyvik Nordås
Environmental policy, management and R&D	Nick Johnstone and Julien Labonne
Does distance matter? The effect of geographic isolation on productivity levels	Bryn Battersby
(13 2006 01 1 P) ISSN 0255-0822, xxx pages	

This publication is sold by subscription only at the OECD's online bookshop: *www.oecd.org/bookshop*. For individual issues, please contact OECD Turpin directly by email: oecdrow@turpin-distribution.com.

OTHER ECONOMIC PERIODICALS

Economics Department. OECD

OECD ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

Twice a year, the OECD Economic Outlook analyses the major trends and examines the economic policies required to foster high and sustainable growth in member countries. Developments in major non-OECD economies are also evaluated.

OECD Economic Outlook Flashfile

The OECD Economic Outlook Flashfile, containing a summary of the Economic Outlook forecasts is now available on INTERNET at the time of its preliminary publication (a month to six weeks before the final publication date) at the following address: www.oecd.org/eco/statistics. This includes key macroeconomic variables for all OECD countries and regions in Excel format, which can be input directly into most statistical and analytical software. The Economic Outlook Flashfile is available free of charge.

Statistics and projections on Internet and on CD-ROM

The full set of historical time series data and projections underlying the OECD Economic Outlook is now available as a statistical database via SourceOECD and on CDROM. It contains approximately 4 000 macroeconomic time series for OECD countries and non-OECD zones, beginning in 1960 and extending to the end of the published forecast horizon.

The general subject and country coverage for both versions are as follows:

Subject coverage

- Gross national product and its components
- Government and households appropriation accounts OECD area aggregations
- Fiscal and monetary indicators
- Labour market and supply indicators
- Wages, prices and profitability
- International trade and payments
- Potential output and output gaps

Country coverage

- OECD countries
- Non-OECD zones
- The euro area

Annual subscription is for two issues per year – June and December. Subscriptions, which also include the printed version of the OECD *Economic Outlook*, may be made at any time of the year. For special conditions (Academics, Government Agencies, etc.) and information on commercial redistribution rights, contact OECD Publications *www.oecd.org/publications*. For more information, register to the OECD newsletters at *www.oecd.org/OECDdirect* or visit the OECD bookshop.

OECD ECONOMIC SURVEYS by the Economic and Development Review Committee. Detailed surveys of trends and prospects for OECD Member countries (and some non-member countries).

Australia	(July 2006)	Korea	(November 2005)
Austria	(August 2005)	Luxembourg	(July 2006)
Belgium	(March 2007)	Mexico	(November 2005)
Canada	(June 2006)	Netherlands	(December 2005)
Czech Republic	(June 2006)	New Zealand	(September 2005)
Denmark	(May 2006)	Norway	(October 2005)
Finland	(May 2006)	Poland	(June 2006)
France	(September 2005)	Portugal	(April 2006)
Germany	(May 2006)	Slovak Republic	(September 2005)
Greece	(September 2005)	Spain	(April 2005)
Hungary	(July 2005)	Sweden	(February 2007)
Iceland	(August 2006)	Switzerland	(January 2006)
Ireland	(March 2006)	Turkey	(October 2006)
Italy	(November 2005)	United Kingdom	(November 2005)
Japan	(July 2006)	United States	(December 2005)
Euro area	(January 2007)	Romania	(October 2002)
Baltic States	(February 2000)	Russian Federation	(November 2006)
Brazil	(November 2006)	Slovenia	(May 1997)
Bulgaria	(April 1999)	Federal Republic	(January 2003)
Chile	(November 2005)	of Yugoslavia	
China	(September 2005)		

For more information, visit the OECD website at the following address: www.oecd.org/ eco/surveys and also the OECD's online bookshop: www.oecd.org/bookshop. Send your order to your nearest OECD supplier: www.oecd.org/publishing/distributors or:

In Germany and Austria

OECD Berlin Centre

Schumannstr. 10 D-10117 Berlin Tel: +49-(0)30 28 88 35 3 Fax: +49-(0)30 28 88 35 45 Email: berlin.contact@oecd.org Internet: www.oecd.org/germany

In Asia/Japan

OECD Tokyo Centre

Nippon Press Center Bldg. 3F 2-2-1 Uchisaiwaicho, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0011 Japan Tel: (81-3) 5532-0021 Fax: (81-3) 5532-0035 Email: tokyo.contact@oecd.org Internet: www.oecdtokyo.org

In central and south America

OECD Mexico Centre

Av. Presidente Masaryk 526, 1er. piso, Polanco, Miguel Hidalgo, C.P. 11560, México, D.F., México Tel: (5255) 91 38 62 33 Fax: (5255) 52 80 04 80 Email: mexico.contact@oecd.org Internet: www.ocdemexico.org.mx

In North America

OECD Washington Center

2001 L Street N.W., Suite 650 Washington, DC 20036-4922 Tel: +001 202 785 6323 Toll-free number for orders: +001 800 456 6323 Email: washington.contact@oecd.org Internet: www.oecdwash.org

In the rest of the world

OECD Paris Centre

2 rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France Commandes: Fax: +33 1 49 10 4276 Infos ventes: Fax: +33 1 45 24 1950 Email: sales@oecd.org Internet: www.ocde.org

WORKING PAPERS

The full series of Economics Department Working Papers can be consulted at www.oecd.org/eco/Working_Papers/

- 548. The political economy of delaying fiscal consolidation (March 2007) Boris Cournède
- 547. The impact on growth of higher efficiency of public spending on schools (March 2007) Frédéric Gonand
- 546. Performance indicators for public spending efficiency in primary and secondary education (February 2007) Douglas Sutherland, Robert Price, Isabelle Joumard and Chantal Nicq
- 545. Monetary policy and macroeconomic stability in Latin America: The cases of Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Mexico (February 2007) Luiz de Mello and Diego Moccero
- 544. The Brazilian "tax war": The case of value-added tax competition among the states (February 2007) Luiz de Mello
- 543. Public spending efficiency: Institutional indicators in primary and secondary education (January 2007) Frédéric Gonand, Isabelle Journard and Robert Price
- 542. Enhancing turkey's growth prospects by improving formal sector business conditions (January 2007) Rauf Gönenç, Willi Leibfritz, Gökhan Yilmaz
- 541. Fiscal relations across levels of government in Australia (January 2007) Vassiliki Koutsogeorgopoulou
- 540. Russian manufacturing and the threat of "Dutch Disease": A comparision of competitiveness developments in Russia and Ukrainian industry (January 2007) Rudiger Ahrend, Donato de Rosa and William Tompson
- 539. Stimulating innovation in Russia: The role of institutions and policies (January 2007) Christian Gianella and William Tompson
- 538. Healthcare reform in Russia: Problems and prospects (January 2007) William Tompson
- 537. A golden rule for Russia? How a rule-based fiscal policy can allow a smooth adjustment to the new terms of trade (January 2007) Christian Gianella
- 536. From "clientelism" to a "client-centred orientation"? The challenge of public administration reform in Russia (January 2007) William Tompson
- 535. Has the rise in debt made households more vulnerable? (December 2006) Nathalie Girouard, Mike Kennedy and Christophe André

- 534. Social security reform in Brazil: Achievements and remaining challenges (December 2006) Fabio Giambiagi and Luiz de Mello
- 533. Improving labour utilisation in Brazil (December 2006) Luiz de Mello, Naércio Menezes Filho and Luiz G. Scorzafave
- 532. Boosting innovation performance in Brazil (December 2006) Carlos H. de Brito Cruz and Luiz de Mello
- 531. Consolidating macroeconomic adjustment in Brazil (December 2006) Luiz de Mello and Diego Moccero
- 530. Product market regulation in the non-manufacturing sectors of OECD countries: Measurement and highlights (December 2006) Paul Conway and Giuseppe Nicoletti
- 529. The Turkish pension system: Further reforms to help solve the informality problem (November 2006) Anne-Marie Brook and Edward Whitehouse
- 528. Policies to improve Turkey's resilience to financial market shocks (November 2006) Anne-Marie Brook.
- 527. Upgrading Japan's innovation system to sustain economic growth (November 2006) Randall S. Jones and Tadashi Yokoyama
- 526. Strengthening the integration of Japan in the world economy to benefit more fully from globalisation (November 2006) Randall S. Jones and Taesik Yoon
- 525. OECD's FDI regulatory restrictiveness index: Revision and extension to more economies (November 2006) Sven Blöndal and Alain de Serres
- 524. Globalisation and inflation in the OECD economies (November 2006) Nigel Pain, Isabell Koske and Marte Sollie
- 523. Identifying determinants of Germany's international price competitiveness A structural VAR approach (November 2006) Martin Meurers
- 522. Short-term pain for long-term gain: The impact of structural reform on fiscal outcomes in EMU (November 2006) Paul van den Noord and Boris Cournède
- 521. Interactions between monetary and fiscal policy: How monetary conditions affect fiscal consolidation (November 2006) Rudiger Ahrend, Pietro Catte and Robert Price
- 520. Restoring fiscal sustainability in the Euro area: Raise taxes or curb spending? (October 2006) Boris Cournède and Frédéric Gonand
- 519. Should Measures of Fiscal Stance be Adjusted for Terms of Trade Effects (October 2006) David Turner

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TAXATION AND BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AS DRIVERSOF FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT IN OECD COUNTRIES7

Dana Hajkova, Giuseppe Nicoletti, Laura Vartia and Kwang-Yeol Yoo

This paper assesses the importance of taxation on foreign direct investment contributing to the literature in two ways. First, it relates bilateral FDI among OECD countries over the 1990s to new estimates of corporate tax wedges on income from FDI. Second, it controls for a large set of additional policy and non-policy factors that may affect the attractiveness of a country for foreign investors. Furthermore, the empirical approach is novel in that it focuses on a semi-parametric estimation methodology that accounts for a number of unobserved effects possibly impinging on the choice of investment location by multinational enterprises. Consistent with previous findings, the estimation results suggest that corporate taxation has a non-negligible impact on FDI location choices. However, the results also suggest that analysis focusing only on taxation in home and host countries and omitting other characteristics of business environment (such as border policies and labour and product market settings) may lead to a serious overestimation of tax elasticities with a risk of drawing misguided implications for policy.

PRODUCT MARKET REGULATION AND PRODUCTIVITY			
CONVERGENCE	39		

Paul Conway, Donato De Rosa, Giuseppe Nicoletti and Faye Steiner

This paper investigates the effect of product market regulations on the international diffusion of productivity shocks. The empirical results indicate that restrictive product market regulations slow the process of adjustment through which best practice production techniques diffuse across borders and new technologies are incorporated into the production process. This suggest that remaining cross-country differences in product market regulation can partially explain the recent observed divergence of productivity in OECD countries, given the emergence of new general-purpose technologies over the 1990s. The paper also investigates two channels through which product market regulations might affect the international diffusion of productivity shocks, namely the adoption of information and communications technology and the location decisions of multi-national enterprises. In both cases the effect of anti-competitive product market regulation is found to be negative and significant.

Alain de Serres, Shuji Kobayakawa, Torsten Sløk and Laura Vartia

This paper examines whether regulation that is more conducive to competitive and efficient financial systems has a significant positive impact on sectoral output and productivity growth in a sample of 25 OECD countries. More specifically, following a methodology used by Rajan and Zingales (1998), the paper tests whether industries that depend more heavily on external sources of funding tend to grow faster in countries that have more competition-friendly regulation in markets for banking services and financial instruments. The regulatory indicators are assembled from surveys conducted by the World Bank on regulations in banking and securities markets. They point to substantial variations in the stance of regulation across countries, in particular with respect to the broad rules underpinning securities market transactions. The empirical analysis indicates that financial system regulation matters for output growth both in a statistical and economic sense.

Joaquim Oliveira Martins and Christine de la Maisonneuve

This paper proposes a framework for projecting public health and long-term care expenditures. It considers demographic and other (non-demographic) drivers of expenditures. The paper extends demographic drivers by incorporating death-related costs and the health status of the population. Concerning health care, the projections incorporate income and the effects of technology cum relative prices. For long-term care, the effects of increased labour participation, reduction of informal care and Baumol's cost disease are taken into account. Using this integrated approach, public health and long-term care expenditures are projected for all OECD countries. Alternative scenarios are simulated, together with sensitivity analysis. Depending on the scenarios, total OECD health and long-term care spending is projected to increase in the range of 3.5 to 6 percentage points of GDP for the period 2005-50.

LESS THAN YOU THOUGHT: THE FISCAL AUTONOMY OF SUB-CENTRAL GOVERNMENTS

Hansjörg Blöchliger and David King

6

The common indicator to assess fiscal power of sub-central governments is the share of sub-central to total tax revenue. But this indicator says nothing about the true discretion sub-central jurisdictions have over tax rates and the tax base, and it skips revenue from intergovernmental grants entirely. The main purpose of this paper is to develop and analyse a set of more refined indicators that assess the true autonomy sub-central governments have over fiscal resources. In sum, fiscal autonomy is considerably lower than the simple ratio suggests. About 60% only of own tax revenue is under full or partial control of sub-central governments, and again 60% only of transfer revenue is unconditional. Moreover, contrary to the allegations of fiscal federalism theory, much sub-central tax revenue comes from mobile income taxes and is prone to tax erosion. The new database can help assess how fiscal autonomy affects policy outcomes such as public sector efficiency, equity in access to public services or the long-term fiscal stance.

155



From: OECD Economic Studies

Access the journal at: https://doi.org/10.1787/16097491

Please cite this article as:

Blöchliger, Hansjörg and David King (2007), "Less than you thought: The fiscal autonomy of sub-central governments", *OECD Economic Studies*, Vol. 2006/2.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1787/eco_studies-v2006-art12-en

This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of OECD member countries.

This document and any map included herein are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgment of OECD as source and copyright owner is given. All requests for public or commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to rights@oecd.org. Requests for permission to photocopy portions of this material for public or commercial use shall be addressed directly to the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) at info@copyright.com or the Centre français d'exploitation du droit de copie (CFC) at contact@cfcopies.com.

